FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/25/2021 8:51 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court Cause No. 99788-8 Court of Appeal Cause No. 80765-0-1

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### GERALD and SHIUE-HUEY CHANG, husband and wife

Petitioners

v.

SUBIR and Lilliam M. Lahiri, husband and wife,

Respondents

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEVY | VON BECK | COMSTOCK | P.S. 1200 Fifth Ave., Suite 1850 Seattle, Washington 98101 206-626-5444

Katie J. Comstock, WSBA No. 40637 Seth E. Chastain, WSBA No. 43066 Charles A. Young, WSBA No. 56130 Claire W. Boren, WSBA No. 56909

###

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners Gerald and Shiue-Huey Chang ask this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its opinion on April 26, 2021 (the "Opinion") which is set forth in the Appendix at pages A-1-A-13.

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the Opinion is contrary to Washington Supreme Court decisions which have held that "exclusive dominion" and/or exclusive possession is a necessary and required element to support a finding of adverse possession;
- B. Whether the Opinion is contrary to Washington Court of Appeals decisions which have held that "exclusive dominion" and/or exclusive possession is a necessary and required element to support a finding of adverse possession;
- C. Whether the Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest, namely the legal elements which must be met before one's property may be taken by adverse possession; and
- D. Whether the trial court's and Court of Appeal's Attorney's fee order against Appellant shall be overturned and whether

Respondent shall pay Appellant's attorney's fees for postjudgment review.

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants Gerald and Shiue-Huey Chang ("the Changs") are a married couple who reside at 4511 Somerset Court, Kent, Washington, 98032 ("Chang Property"). Respondents Subir and Lillian Lahiri ("the Lahiris") are Appellants' neighbors who reside at 26428 Canaby Way, Kent Washington, 98032 ("Lahiri Property"). The Changs purchased their property in 1989 and the Lahiris purchased their property in 1995. The neighbors rarely interacted prior to the boundary dispute arising in 2018.

The Chang Property is uphill from the Lahiri Property and there is a short retaining wall ("rockery wall") which runs for a portion of the distance along the legal boundary line.<sup>5</sup> A privacy fence built prior to the Changs' acquisition of their property encloses the Changs' backyard but is set back about 2.4 feet from the rockery wall (the area between the privacy fence and rockery wall is hereafter referred to as "Disputed Area").<sup>6</sup>

<sup>1</sup> CP 19, at ¶ 2.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  CP 19, at ¶ 2.

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  CP 19, at ¶¶ 2-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP 19, at ¶ 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Ex. 9 pg. 2; Ex. 37; RP 53, lines 8 – 23; RP 56, lines 16 –

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Ex. 44; RP 34, lines 10-25.

From 1995 through 2018, the Changs and their agents would access the Disputed Area to keep the area free of weeds and other vegetation. Mr. Chang and his agents understood at all times that the disputed area was on the Chang Property, and Mr. Chang described this area as a drainage area due to the existence of two drainage pipes at the bottom of the rockery at the southeast corner of the Chang Property. The Lahiris were aware of both drainage pipes and have not objected to their presence or sought their removal. The Changs have also had a utility and cable box in the Disputed Area for many years. There is no indication in the record that the Lahiris have objected to this utility box.

From 1995 forward, the Lahiris believed that the Disputed Area was part of their property. From 1995 until 2015, the Lahiris' use of the Disputed Area was similar in nature to that of the Changs in that they regularly performed maintenance and upkeep of the land. Lahiris' children also played in the Disputed Area, and the Lahiris documented their landscaping work over the years.

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> RP 63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Exs. 9, 34, 37, 41, and 42; RP 14, lines 13 – 15; RP 15, lines 17 to 24; RP 46, lines 5-11; Ex. 11, 36; RP 19, lines 7 – 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> RP 149, lines 19 to 22; Ex. 42; RP 145, line 23 – RP 146, line 1; RP 146, line 18 to RP 147, line 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Exs 11, 36; RP 149, lines 14 to 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP 20 (Finding of Fact No. 20).

<sup>12</sup> Id

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP 20 (Finding of fact No. 14).

In the late 1990s, Mr. Chang observed Ms. Lahiri in the disputed area and pointed out a nail in the street adjoining the Lahiri Property and informed her that she was working on his land.<sup>14</sup>

Starting in 2015, the Lahiris began making substantial changes to their property, including planting trees on the Chang Property and attaching items to the Changs' privacy fence.<sup>15</sup>

These sudden changes in the Lahiris' use of the Disputed Area caused the Changs to order a land survey, which confirmed the boundary location. <sup>16</sup> Upon seeing the survey stakes on the Chang Property, Ms. Lahiri tore out the survey stakes and proclaimed it was her land by adverse possession. <sup>17</sup> This was the first time the Lahiris attempted to exclude or limit the Changs' entry into the Disputed Area. The Changs filed suit to quiet title; the Lahiris filed a counterclaim claiming they owned the property by adverse possession. <sup>18</sup>

At trial, the court found that the Lahiris had established ownership of the Disputed Area through adverse possession. 19 The trial court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP 19 (Findings of Fact Nos. 10 and 11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 21 (Finding of Fact No. 14); RP 56, lines 7 – 14; RP 59 lines 3 to 12; RP 63 lines 6 to 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> RP 74.

<sup>17</sup> Id

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 23 (Finding of Fact No. 29).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> CP 25.

concluded that the Lahiris were the prevailing party and awarded them attorney's fees pursuant to RCW 7.28.083(3).<sup>20</sup>

On Appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed and ordered additional attorney's fees pursuant to RCW 7.28.083(3) and RAP 18.1(d).<sup>21</sup>

### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The elements of adverse possession in this state are well established. As stated by this court in *ITT Rayonier*, "In order to establish a claim of adverse possession, there must be <u>possession</u> that is: (1) open and notorious, (2) actual and uninterrupted, (3) exclusive, and (4) hostile." "<u>Possession</u> of the property with each of the necessary concurrent elements must exist for the statutorily prescribed period of 10 years. <sup>23</sup> "As the presumption of possession is in the holder of legal title, the party claiming to have adversely possessed the property has the burden of establishing the existence of each element." Because the trial court made no factual findings that the Lahiris <u>possessed</u> the disputed area, the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the Lahiris' claim for adverse possession.

### A. Standard of Review for Motion for Discretionary Review.

<sup>21</sup> See Appendix A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wn.2d 754, 757, 774 P.2d 6, 8 (1989), (citing Chaplin v. Sanders, 100 Wash.2d 853, 857, 676 P.2d 431 (1984)).(Emphasis Added)/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wn.2d 754, 757, 774 P.2d 6, 8 (1989) (citing RCW 4.16.020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wn.2d 754, 757, 774 P.2d 6, 8 (1989) (citations omitted)

As described below, this matter meets three out of four requirements for discretionary review set forth in RAP 13.4.

# B. The Court of Appeals' holding that an express factual finding of possession was not necessary to the Lahiris' adverse possession claim is in direct conflict with this Court's holding in ITT Rayonier.

In *ITT Rayonier*, title to a disputed area was quieted in favor of the titled owner ("ITT") despite claims of adverse possession by another ("Bell"). ITT used the disputed area in its timber operation<sup>25</sup> and Bell used the area in connection with his use of a houseboat moored in an adjacent lake.<sup>26</sup> Owners of another nearby houseboat also used the disputed area in much the same way Bell did.<sup>27</sup> Bell's adverse possession claim failed because the other owners' use of the disputed area prevented Bell from establishing the "exclusive possession" necessary to adverse possession.<sup>28</sup>

In analyzing Bell's claim, the ITT Rayonier court addressed the distinction between *use* and *possession* in the context of adverse possession. The court explained, "use alone does not necessarily constitute possession. The ultimate test is the exercise of dominion over the land in a manner consistent with actions a true owner would take. Thus, Bell's burden was to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wn.2d 754, 757, 774 P.2d 6, 7 (1989)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wn.2d 754, 756, 774 P.2d 6, 7 (1989)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wn.2d 754, 756, 774 P.2d 6, 7 (1989)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wn.2d 754, 760, 774 P.2d 6, 9 (1989)

establish specific acts of use <u>rising to the level of exclusive</u>, <u>legal</u> possession."<sup>29</sup>

Bell attempted "to establish his exclusive possession" by "pointing to specific instances of his own use of the property." The Court, however, recognized that Bell's approach "logically fails to negate instances of use by others." Quoting *Wood v. Nelson*, the ITT Court explained:

specific instances of property usage merely provide evidence of possession:

Evidence of *use* is admissible because it is ordinarily an indication of possession. It is *possession* that is the ultimate fact to be ascertained. Exclusive dominion over land is the essence of possession.<sup>32</sup>

As *Wood* and *ITT Rayonier* establish, possession is the "ultimate fact" to be ascertained, and possession is characterized by "exclusive dominion" over the land which can be negated with a showing of use by others. Despite showing significant use of the disputed area over the statutory period, Bell's claims for adverse possession failed because "Bell's shared and occasional use of the property simply did not rise to the level of exclusive possession indicative of a true owner for the full statutory period."<sup>33</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wn.2d 754, 759, 774 P.2d 6, 9 (1989) (emphasis added)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wn.2d 754, 759, 774 P.2d 6, 8 (1989)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wn.2d 754, 759, 774 P.2d 6, 8 (1989)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wn.2d 754, 759, 774 P.2d 6, 8 (1989) (Quoting Wood v. Nelson, 57 Wn.2d 539, 540, 358 P.2d 312 (1961))

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wn.2d 754, 759–60, 774 P.2d 6, 9 (1989)

Here, the trial court relied entirely on the Lahiri's *use* of the Disputed Area but made absolutely no factual or legal findings regarding whether the Lahiris' use was *exclusive*, or whether they *possessed* the Disputed Area at all, let alone with the requisite exclusivity.<sup>34</sup> In fact, although the trial court cited case law which requires a finding that an adverse possessor's possession be exclusive, the court skipped that element in its analysis, and instead improperly relied upon the fact that the Lahiris *used* the Property, and that Ms. Lahiri and the Parties' neighbor believed that the land fell on the Lahiris' property.<sup>35</sup> These findings were irrelevant to the issue of possession and in contrast to well established law that "one's subjective belief about the location of a property line or ownership of property is wholly irrelevant; adverse possession requires *actual possession*."<sup>36</sup>

The Court of Appeals reenforced the trial court's error, mistakenly reasoning that "<u>ITT Rayonier</u> does not compel the trial court to enter an express factual finding that the Lahiris "possessed" the disputed area."<sup>37</sup> This was reversible error on the Court of Appeals' part. Indeed, *ITT* 

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> CP 45-50.

 $<sup>^{35}</sup>$  *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Chaplin v. Sanders, 100 Wash.2d 853, 676 P.2d 431 (1984) (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> See Appendix A, Pg. 10.

Rayonier identifies possession as the ultimate fact to be ascertained.<sup>38</sup> Because there was no factual finding of possession or legal analysis thereof by the trial court, the Lahiris did not meet their burden at trial of overcoming the presumption that the Changs, as legal title holders, had possession of the land.

The evidence at trial was clear that both the Changs and the Lahiris continued to enter and use the Disputed Area as if it were each of their properties.<sup>39</sup> Although the trial court described the Changs' use of the Disputed Area as "sparse," the trial court made express findings about the Changs' continued use, including Fact No. 15 which discussed the Changs' daughter routinely maintaining the Changs' fence and her continued replacement of fence boards.<sup>40</sup> The Changs' daughter also testified that she went into the Disputed Area "many times" to inspect the Changs' drainage pipe, to pressure wash, and to plant vinca minor.<sup>41</sup> It is also undisputed that there are two irrigation pipes which carry water and drainage from the Chang Property into the Disputed Area, and that these pipes are known to the Lahiris and remain there to this day, without objection. Although the Court of Appeals acknowledged the existence of the Changs' black pipe (in

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wn.2d 754, 759, 774 P.2d 6, 8 (1989) (Quoting Wood v. Nelson, 57 Wash.2d 539, 540, 358 P.2d 312 (1961))

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> CP 45-46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> RP 16, lines 2-17.

response to Chang's objection to the Court's finding of fact which only mentioned one white pipe), the Court performed no additional analysis and did not examine how the existence of two pipes which are used by and for the benefit of the Changs affects a legal analysis on possession.

In addition, two individuals also testified at trial to having done landscaping work on behalf of the Changs within the Disputed Area.<sup>42</sup> One such individual testified that he went into the Disputed Area to make fence repairs and that he did so without anyone's permission.<sup>43</sup> Another testified that he planted vines behind the white drainage pipe in the Disputed Area.<sup>44</sup>

The Changs' continued access and work within the Disputed Area was well beyond what the trial court could reasonably have found to be a neighborly accommodation<sup>45</sup>, and their continued use is similar to the neighbors' use in *Bell* in that it prevented the Lahiris from obtaining exclusive possession of the Disputed Area. Indeed, the Changs' continued use is even more legally impactful here than the neighbors in Bell, as the Changs were the legal title holders to the land and are entitled under *ITT Rayonier* to the presumption that the land is theirs, unless the Lahiris meet their burden. *Again*, the ultimate test is the exercise of dominion over the

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> CP 21 (Findings of Fact Nos. 18 − 19).

 $<sup>^{43}</sup>$  CP 21 (Findings of Fact Nos. 18 - 19).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> RP 46, lines 13-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 945 P.2d 727 (1997)

land in a manner consistent with actions a true owner would take, and the Changs' and Lahiris' mutual use under their respective beliefs that they both owned the land does not rise to the level of exclusive possession by the Lahiris. The Lahiris did not did exercise dominion over the land until 2016, and, therefore, the element of exclusive possession of the Disputed Area did not run for the required 10-year period.<sup>46</sup> Thus, The Appellate Court erred by misapplying *ITT Rayonier*, and the Court of Appeals Decision must be reversed.

C. The Court of Appeals' holding that an express factual finding of possession was not necessary to the Lahiris' adverse possession claim is in direct conflict with the Court of Appeals' holding in *Lilly v. Lynch*.

In *Lilly v. Lynch*, the Court of Appeals considered the intensity of use necessary to support a claim for adverse possession.<sup>47</sup> *Lilly* involved a boundary dispute between adjacent waterfront property owners. A boat launch ramp running generally parallel to the boundary line separates the property of the northern neighbor (Lynch) from that of his southern neighbor (Lilly), and both properties are waterfront on their eastern boundaries.<sup>48</sup> For many years, successive owners of both properties mistakenly believed that the surveyed boundary lined up with the northern

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Chaplin v. Sanders, 100 Wash. 2d. 853, 676 P.2d 43 (1984).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 945 P.2d 727 (1997)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 309, 945 P.2d 727, 729 (1997)

wall of the boat launch ramp, and that consequently the ramp itself was part of the Lilly property.<sup>49</sup> When the property was surveyed, however, the parties discovered that, in fact, the boat launch ramp was entirely within the legal boundaries of the lot owned by Lynch and his predecessors.<sup>50</sup>

Upon discovering that the Lynches were the titled owners of the boat launch ramp, Lilly brought an action to quiet title to the area in her favor, based on adverse possession.<sup>51</sup> Both parties moved for summary judgment, and the trial court, finding no genuine issue of material fact granted Lynch's summary judgment motion dismissing Lilly's adverse possession claim.<sup>52</sup> The Court of Appeals reversed, explaining that, *viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party*, Lilly, material issues of fact regarding the extent and nature of control exerted by Lilly and the amount and type of use by the former owner of the Lynch property prevented summary judgment dismissing Lilly's adverse possession claim.<sup>53</sup>

The elements of adverse possession cited by the *Lilly* court, like those cited in *ITT Rayonier*, identify four elements, all of which require a showing of *possession*. <sup>54</sup> Specifically:

40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 309, 945 P.2d 727, 729 (1997)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 310, 945 P.2d 727, 730 (1997)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 312, 945 P.2d 727, 731 (1997)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 311, 945 P.2d 727, 731 (1997)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 316, 945 P.2d 727, 733 (1997)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> See, Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 312, 945 P.2d 727, 731 (1997)

A possessor may gain title to property from the true owner by adverse possession if four conditions are met: "[T]he possession must be[](1) exclusive, (2) actual and uninterrupted, (3) open and notorious, and (4) hostile and under a claim of right made in good faith." Chaplin v. Sanders, 100 Wash.2d 853, 857, 676 P.2d 431 (1984). These conditions must be met concurrently for at least 10 years. Chaplin, 100 Wash.2d at 857, 676 P.2d 431; RCW 4.16.020. 55 56

In *Lilly*, the court determined that the "primary issue" was whether Lilly could demonstrate "condition (1), 'exclusive' possession"<sup>57</sup> Evidence showed that owners of the Lynch property regularly used the boat launch, but did so with permission from the owners of the Lilly property.<sup>58</sup> The trial court also found that part of the Lilly property's septic system lay beneath the disputed boat launch ramp<sup>59</sup> and that, when the bulkhead on the water frontage of both properties was repaired, the area in front of the boat launch ramp was left open at the direction of the then-owner of the Lilly property.<sup>60</sup> Lilly and her predecessors also stored their boats on the boat launch ramp for years at a time and gave workers permission to use the ramp to store construction materials and equipment.<sup>61</sup> On the other hand, there was conflicting evidence regarding the extent of use by a former owner of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 312, 945 P.2d 727, 731 (1997)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> The fourth element, hostility, no longer requires good faith. See Chaplin v. Sanders, 100 Wn.2d 853, 861, 676 P.2d 431, 436 (1984).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 312, 945 P.2d 727, 731 (1997)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 310, 945 P.2d 727, 730 (1997)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 310, 945 P.2d 727, 730 (1997)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 310, 945 P.2d 727, 730 (1997)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 315, 945 P.2d 727, 733 (1997)

Lynch property who regularly used the ramp and occasionally helped with its maintenance. 62

Applying the law to these facts, the Court of Appeals recognized that "A claimant's possession need not be absolutely exclusive in order to satisfy the exclusivity condition of adverse possession." And that "[a]n occasional, transitory use by the true owner usually will not prevent adverse possession if the uses the adverse possessor permits are such as a true owner would permit a third person to do as a 'neighborly accommodation." Nonetheless, "The ultimate test is the exercise of dominion over the land in a manner consistent with actions a true owner would take."

See also Crites v. Koch<sup>66</sup>, in which the Court distinguished between which conduct may constitute a neighborly accommodation for the purposes of negating an adverse possessor's exclusive possession. There, the Court indicated that uses such as temporary parking and crossing one's property as a shortcut were behaviors the community allowed as neighborly accommodations, but that more substantial uses would negate the exclusive possession element of adverse possession. The Koch court also referred to

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 315, 945 P.2d 727, 733 (1997)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 313, 945 P.2d 727, 732 (1997) (citing Crites v. Koch, 49 Wash.App. 171, 174, 741 P.2d 1005 (1987)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 313, 945 P.2d 727, 732 (1997) (quotations omitted)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 313, 945 P.2d 727, 732 (1997) (citing

ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell, 112 Wash.2d 754, 759, 774 P.2d 6 (1989)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Crites v. Koch, 49 Wash. App. 171, 741 P.2d 1005 (1987),

persuasive authority from Montana, in which the Montana Supreme Court held that an adverse claimant's possession is not exclusive when title owner used property frequently without objection from claimant.<sup>67</sup>

Here, the trial court recognized that the Changs used the disputed area, and though the trial court characterized that use as "sparse," 68 no finding was made that the Changs' use of the disputed area, especially the continuous use of the disputed area as a drainage site served by two drainage pipes, was use of the type regularly permitted by the Lahiris as a neighborly courtesy. Again, the Court must presume that the Changs, as legal title holders, are in possession of their land until unless the Lahiris can demonstrate that they exclusively possessed the land themselves. The onus is on the Lahiris to demonstrate that the use by the Changs was a neighborly accommodation by the Lahiris. No such showing was made, <sup>69</sup> and, as a result, the Lahiris have not met their burden of establishing all elements of adverse possession.

Instead, the evidence at trial was that the Lahiris understood that the property was or, at a minimum may be, the Changs' until approximately 2016, when the Lahiris' son informed them of the concept of adverse

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Martin v. Randono, 175 Mont. 321, 573 P.2d 1156 (1978).

 $<sup>^{69}</sup>$  CP 42 – 51; Appendix A.

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