# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/26/2021 3:50 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court Case No. 99788-8 Court of Appeals No. 80765-0-1

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GERALD and SHIUE-HUEY CHANG, husband and wife,

Petitioners,

v.

SUBIR and LILLIAM M. LAHIRI, husband and wife,

Respondents.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Nicholas Price WSBA No. 46154 Archer Price Law PLLC 20918 63rd Ave West, Suite A Lynwood, WA 98036 Ph: 206-279-1228 nicholas@archerpricelaw.com

####

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court will accept a Petition for discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision only if (1) the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of this Court, (2) the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, (3) the Petition presents a significant federal or state constitutional question, or (4) the Petition presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

Petitioners do not argue that they qualify for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Their arguments that this case is appropriate for review under the other three categories all fail.

A. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals correctly followed this Court's precedent when it held that no express factual finding of possession was necessary.

Petitioners cannot show that the opinion conflicts with *ITT Rayonier*—or any other precedent from this Court—because the Court of Appeals correctly followed well-established law when it held that an express factual finding of "possession" is not required to sustain the trial court's legal conclusion that the Respondents adversely possessed the Disputed Area.

To establish adverse possession, a party mush show 10 years of possession that is "(1) open and notorious, (2) actual and uninterrupted, (3)

exclusive, and (4) hostile." *ITT Rayonier*, 112 Wn.2d at 757 (citing *Chaplin v. Sanders*, 100 Wn.2d 853, 857, 676 P.2d 431 (1984)); RCW 4.16.020. A party must prove these elements by a preponderance of the evidence. *E.g.*, *Teel v. Stading*, 155 Wn. App. 390, 394, 228 P.3d 1293 (2010) (preponderance standard).

Crucially—and central to Petitioners' misunderstanding of ITT *Rayonier*—"[w]hether adverse possession has been established by the facts as found by the trial court is a question of law . . . . " Happy Bunch, LLC v. Grandview North, LLC, 142 Wn. App. 81, 88, 173 P.3d 959 (2007) (citing Bryant v. Palmer Coking Coal Co., 86 Wn. App. 204, 210, 936 P.2d 1163 (1997)) (emphasis added). Petitioners' insistence that the trial should have made a fact finding of "possession" before entering a legal conclusion of adverse possession completely ignores this Court's unambiguous explanation in ITT Rayonier that the factual predicate for a legal conclusion of adverse possession can be use and "exclusive dominion." See ITT Rayonier, 112 Wn.2d at 759. In that case, the defendant asserted adverse possession, arguing that he made improvements to the property but ultimately could not show that the acts he claimed showed ownership had occurred over a the full 10-year statutory period. *Id.* at 759-760. As this Court explained in that case, the defendant's "shared and occasional use of the property simply did not <u>rise to the level of exclusive possession</u> indicative of a true owner . . . . " *Id.* (emphasis added).

In other words, the Petitioners confuse a legal condition—possession—with the facts necessary to prove that condition. As this Court stated in *ITT Rayonier*, "[t]he ultimate test is the exercise of dominion over the land in a manner consistent with the actions a true owner would take." *Id.* at 759. Thus, nothing requires a trial court to enter a specific factual finding of "possession." A trial court need only find that a party has established "specific acts of use," that amount to possession. *Id.* For example, "acts of possession" include maintaining, using, occupying, and building improvements upon property. *See, e.g., Heriot v. Lewis*, 35 Wn. App. 496, 505, 668 P.2d 589 (1983) (describing physical occupancy, land use, and excluding others as "acts of possession"); *see also* John W. Weaver, 17 Wash. Prac. Real Estate, § 8.10 (2d ed) (listing "activities that have been held to establish actual possession" such as "maintaining trees or other vegetation" and "mowing the grass").

Thus, the trial court applied the correct standard when it found that the Respondent's engaged in specific acts like consistent landscaping and occupancy that established the legal conclusion that they adversely possessed the Disputed Area. This straightforward conclusion—and the Court of Appeals' decision affirming it—does not require this Court's

review simply because the word "possession" doesn't appear in the trial court's findings of fact.

Further, for good measure, the trial court also stated, "[t]o the extent there is any ambiguity, overlap or mixed questions of law and fact, the Court intends for any Findings of Fact described as Conclusions of Law to be a Finding of Fact, and that any Conclusion of Law described as a Finding of Fact to be a Conclusion of Law." CP 25 (COL 12). The trial court expressly wrote, "Defendants have established ownership of the Disputed Area through adverse possession." CP 24 (COL 9).

Petitioners further argue that "the trial court relied entirely on the Lahiris' use of the Disputed Area but made absolutely no factual or legal findings regarding whether the Lahiris' use was exclusive . . ." Pet. at 8. That assertion is wrong on its face, as the trial court wrote in the Conclusions of Law, "The Lahiris have met their burden of proof that they made open, exclusive, actual and uninterrupted hostile use of the disputed area from at least the late 1990s up to the time this dispute arose in 2018." CP 24 (COL 8). The Court of Appeals upheld the trial court on the question of whether sufficient evidence supported the trial court's Conclusions of Law, and Petitioners do not raise the substantial evidence argument in this Court. See Op. at 7.

## B. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because petitioners have not shown that the opinion here conflicts with any Court of Appeals opinion.

In addition to demonstrating no grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), Petitioners have not shown that they are entitled to review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). The Petitioners claim the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Lilly v. Lynch* because the Changs' use of the property was sufficient to defeat the Lahiris' adverse possession claim. 88 Wn. App. 306 (1997).

To the contrary, *Lilly* supports Respondents, and not the Petitioners. In *Lilly*, the court explained that "occasional, transitory use by the true owner usually will not prevent adverse possession if the uses the adverse possessor permits are such as a true owner would permit a third person to do as a neighborly accommodation." *Id.* at 313. That aptly describes the kind of relationship Petitioners had with the Disputed Area ever since the Respondents moved in next door in 1995. The trial court found that even Petitioners themselves described their visits to the Disputed Area as "occasional." CP 20 (FOF 16). It is therefore unconvincing that Petitioners attempt to use *Lilly* to argue that Respondents' use was insufficiently exclusive. *See* Pet. at 11-16.

Further, *Lilly* is entirely inapposite because it involved review of an adverse possession claim resolved on summary judgment, not after a bench

trial that settled disputed facts. The Petitioners' suggestion that a party's conflicting evidence of property use must defeat an adverse possession claim completely misunderstands the issue in *Lilly*. In that case, evidence of both parties' use of the property merely precluded summary judgment because a trier of fact had to determine whether the adverse possessor's use amounted to "exclusive" use. Here, the parties presented their conflicting evidence to the trier of fact who agreed with the Respondents and dismissed the Petitioners' evidence as unconvincing. In other words, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with *Lilly* because, unlike that case, there are no remaining questions of fact to resolve here.

Likewise, the other Court of Appeals case cited by Petitioners, *Crites v. Koch*, explains that occasional use by neighbors and community members constituted the exclusive possession element of adverse possession, rather than negating it. 49 Wash. App. 171, 174, 741 P.2d 1005 (1987); *see also id.* ("In order to be exclusive for purposes of adverse possession, the claimant's possession need not be absolutely exclusive. Rather, the possession must be of a type that would be expected of an owner under the circumstances.").

Finally, neither *Lilly* nor *Crites* stands for the proposition that Petitioners wish it did, which that the trial court in this case was required to make a factual finding of possession in order to support the legal conclusion

of adverse possession. *See* Pet. at 11-17. Petitioners have shown no need for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

### C. The petition does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

Petitioners' argument for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is premised entirely on its misconstrued arguments under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(2). *See* Pet. at 17-19. Clear caselaw regarding adverse possession is important for public policy, but the Court of Appeals in this case strengthened that clarity of the law by correctly applying this Court's precedent.

Petitioners argue that "frightening public policy implications" may occur if the element of exclusive possession and dominion were removed from the adverse possession law, but that is counterfactual to this case. *See* Pet. at 18. Here, neighbors lived peacefully for over 20 years while adverse possession occurred, on either side of a piece of land that belonged to one party before now belonging to the other. In addition, Petitioners state "Chang did exactly as he was expected to do—he continued to use and cultivate his land at all times," Pet. at 19, but that is contrary to the trial court's findings of fact and even the testimony offered by Petitioners themselves. The Court must ignore the Petitioners' attempt to recast their disagreement with the trial court's factual determinations as important matters of public policy demanding this Court's attention.

D. The awards of attorney's fees should be affirmed, and, if the petition is denied, this Court should award the Respondents attorney's fees for responding to the Petitioners' meritless petition.

Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly awarded reasonable attorney's fees in this case, as Respondents were the prevailing party. *See* RCW 7.28.083(3) (providing for fees for a prevailing party in an action asserting title to real property by adverse possession); RAP 18.1 ("A party may recover attorney fees and costs on appeal when granted by applicable law). The Court of Appeals' affirmance of the award below and award on appeal were proper.

Further, because the Court of Appeals correctly awarded the Respondents appellate attorney's fees, this Court should award Respondents fees for responding to the Petitioners' meritless petition if it is denied. RAP 18.1(j) ("If attorney fees and expenses are awarded to the party who prevailed in the Court of Appeals, and if a petition for review to the Supreme Court is subsequently denied, reasonable attorney fees and expenses may be awarded for the prevailing party's preparation and filing of the timely answer to the petition for review.")

#### VI. CONCLUSION

Petitioners have not shown any grounds for this Court to review this case under the Rules of Appellate Procedure or other applicable law. For

the foregoing reasons, Respondents respectfully ask the Court to deny the Petition for Review.